
 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

                                                        1 

                                            City of Washington Terrace                                           2 
____________________________________________________________________ 3 

  Minutes of a Regular City Council meeting  4 
Held on March 3, 2026 5 

City Hall, 5249 South 400 East, Washington Terrace City, Utah 6 
 7 
MAYOR, COUNCIL, AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT  8 
Mayor Mark C. Allen  9 
Council Member Anna Davidson  10 
Council Member Zunayid Z. Zishan  11 
Council Member Cheryl Parkinson   12 
Council Member Jeff West  13 
Council Member Michael Thomas   14 
Finance Director Shari’ Garrett 15 
City Recorder Amy Rodriguez 16 
City Manager Tom Hanson 17 
Lt. Sean Endsley, Weber County Sheriff 18 
               19 
OTHERS PRESENT: 20 
Sheriff Arbon, Julie Stoddard, Chief Josh Gard, 21 
 22 
1. WORK SESSION :                                                                                                            5:00 P.M.   23 

Topics to include; but are not limited to: 24 
- Weber County Sheriff discussion on services, costs and future plans 25 

 26 
Lt. Endsley presented the current 2026 contract city budget. Stoddard stated that wages were up $250,000. 27 
She stated that the numbers were very close to last year’s numbers. She stated that we are looking at a 4% 28 
percent increase, which includes wage increases. Endsley stated that many of the other expenses are 29 
remaining flat. 30 
Lt. Endsley stated that the formula for prices remains the same at 60 percent call for service and 40 percent 31 
population for contract cities. He stated that the population between contract cities has increased around 32 
25,000, while staffing levels have not. He stated that they are looking to increase staffing levels by 10 33 
additional full-time employees. She stated that it would be a 26% increase. She stated that the numbers are 34 
not final, but should be close.  Lt. Endsley stated that the extra FTE’s will bring their staffing level to .72 35 
deputies per 5,000 residents.  Chief Gard stated that they will not be able to maintain the call volume coming 36 
in with the current .57 deputies per 5,000 residents. 37 
Lt. Endsley stated that the scale is built on a 3.5 increase in wage each year, determined by deputy evaluations 38 
and other factors.  39 
 40 
Sheriff Arbon stated that street crimes spend around 80 percent of their time in Washington Terrace and 41 
West Haven. He stated that the division was discontinued a few years ago due to staffing issues regarding 42 
wage wars.  He stated that they have worked on the retention plan and competitive wages and feel that once 43 
they have the staff levels needed, street crimes division will start to come back. Sheriff Arbon stated that the 44 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

support from the contract cities, as well as from the County Commissioner, has been instrumental in helping 45 
with the staffing levels. He noted that compensation is just a component of retention, but that it is a large 46 
component. Gard stated that they used to lose staff to other agencies after training due to pay, but now they 47 
are acquiring lateral moves from other agencies. 48 
 49 
Hanson stated that he appreciates the smoothing in the calls for service. He asked what has prevented the 50 
Office from moving the staffing level up to help with the smoothing for our budget.  Sheriff Arbon stated 51 
that more cities began to come on board. He stated that they used to have 110 deputies for control.  He stated 52 
that other cities were saying that the county was subsidizing the department. He stated that through attrition, 53 
the staffing levels started to decrease. It went down to 72 officers.  Sheriff Arbon stated that different types 54 
of cases (unfunded mandates) take several officers at several hours at a time and paperwork has become a 55 
burden. He stated that the office is fluid on resources and equipment but pay and workload led to poor 56 
retention.  Sheriff Arbon stated that people are now wanting to stay because there is so much opportunity 57 
now. He stated that there is not one ounce of profit in the contract cities numbers. He stated that he feels like 58 
they need to get staffing up so that backup officers can respond timely.  Sheriff Arbon stated that the County 59 
Commissioners have not wanted to engage in wage wars, which has led to a slow increase in wages to stay 60 
competitive.  61 
 62 
Hanson stated that we will be going through Truth in Taxation just to cover the wages for law enforcement. 63 
He stated that there has been a systemic problem within the county for a decade, and the spike is going to be 64 
very painful for our city.  He stated that he suggests a smoothing of the ten officers (3,3,4 for example). 65 
Hanson stated that he anticipates having to go through Truth in Taxation every year for cost of living. He 66 
stated that we are not immune to inflation.  He stated that we recognize this support for their employees 67 
supports our community.  Stoddard stated that the officers are exhausted and if we do not get in the additional 68 
officers, they may lose them to other agencies. Chief Gard stated that exhaustion plays a role in retention. 69 
He stated that they have to be able to keep residents safe. He stated that they cannot have just one officer in 70 
the city at a time. Chief Gard stated that they are at a time when they have to have the spike for the safety of 71 
the citizens and their officers. 72 
 73 
Council Member Zishan stated that he understands the situation with the Sheriff’s Office but noted that a 74 
tax increase will be hard on the residents.  Council Member Parkinson stated that we will be paying more 75 
just to maintain services.  Chief Gard stated that it allows them to have street crimes operational, increase in 76 
productivity, and increase in visibility.  He stated that their proactive policing is non-existent. He stated that 77 
there will be benefits with proactive policing.  Council Member Parkinson stated that the benefits need to be 78 
shared through messaging.  79 
 80 
Sheriff Arbon stated that they are doing everything that they can to deliver the service that the citizen expects. 81 
He stated that we have to make sure that residents have a safe place to live. He stated that they have to 82 
operate at a level that is also beneficial to their deputy’s safety and wellbeing.  83 
 84 
Garrett asked if the issue could have been addressed earlier to alleviate the spike. She asked what confidence 85 
do we have that the correct choices will be made moving forward. Sheriff Arbon stated that he agrees that it 86 
could have been addressed earlier but he is unable to give himself more officers. Stoddard stated that the 87 
step program is already in policy. She stated that the problem is who is elected as Commissioners.  Sheriff 88 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

Arbon stated that the assurances are on the Sheriff side, however, it is unpredictable on what future 89 
Commissioners will decide.  90 
 91 
Mayor Allen stated that he needs to convince people that we don’t buy officers, but rather services. He asked 92 
for a list of the services that are provided to the residents as well as the impact that the additional officers 93 
will provide.  Council Member Zishan reiterated that this cost is a massive spike for the residents.  94 
Sheriff Arbon suggested that the Mayor host an Open House in which the Sheriff Office can be a part of and 95 
explain their positions.  96 
 97 
 98 
 99 
 100 
 101 
 102 
 103 
 104 
 105 
 106 
 107 
 108 
 109 
 110 
 111 
 112 
 113 
 114 
 115 
 116 
 117 
 118 
 119 
 120 
 121 
 122 
 123 
 124 
 125 
 126 
 127 
 128 
 129 
 130 
 131 
 132 
 133 
 134 
 135 
 136 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

 137 
 138 
 139 
MAYOR, COUNCIL, AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT  140 
Mayor Mark C. Allen  141 
Council Member Anna Davidson  142 
Council Member Zunayid Z. Zishan  143 
Council Member Cheryl Parkinson   144 
Council Member Jeff West  145 
Council Member Michael Thomas   146 
Parks and Recreation Director Carlos Grava  147 
City Recorder Amy Rodriguez 148 
City Manager Tom Hanson 149 
Lt. Sean Endsley, Weber County Sheriff 150 
 151 
Others Present 152 
Ulis Gardiner, Kathleen Craynor 153 
 154 
2. ROLL CALL                                                                                               6:00 P.M. 155 
 156 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 157 
 158 
4. WELCOME 159 
 160 

5. CONSENT ITEMS 161 
5.1 APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND FEBRUARY 17, 2026, COUNCIL MEETING 162 

MINUTES   163 
Item 5.1 was approved by general consent. 164 
 165 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 166 
 167 
Kathleen Craynor stated that the Council should feel guilty when they drive pass the trees that were caused 168 
to be taken down by the Council along the hospital.  She stated that she is looking at a warzone.  She stated 169 
that there never has been a problem with the trees.  She stated that if the Council had consulted some of the 170 
people living along the trees they would have gotten together to clean up the area.  She stated that the 171 
Council has caused problems. She stated that the wildlife is now gone. She asked if Council had taken into 172 
consideration the lights shining into resident’s homes. Ms. Craynor stated that Council has destroyed a 173 
beautiful environment for the wildlife and for the residents who live there.  She stated that the trees acted 174 
as a sound barrier and helped reduce the noise of the planes and helicopters and provided shade. She stated 175 
that the city cannot mitigate the damage that has been done.  176 
 177 
Mayor Allen stated that he would like to move to Administrative Reports (Item 9) to address the concerns. 178 
 179 
 180 
 181 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

7. NEW BUSINESS 182 
              183 

7.1 PRESENTATION/MOTION: APPROVAL OF THE PARKS CAPITAL  184 
                           INVESTMENT PROJECTS LIST FOR PROJECTS WITHIN THE 0-5 YEAR  185 

 CAPITAL PLAN 186 
Grava asked for formal approval of the priority list for the Park Capital Projects to be started within the 187 
next five years when funding becomes available.  He stated that the city works with a five-year plan for 188 
budgeting purposes and noted that prices increase so it is not realistic to work on budgeting past the five 189 
years.  Grava stated that some of the projects on the list are already in progress. Grava stated that Council 190 
approval of the priority projects helps him plan a framework within the department, along with the finance 191 
and public works departments, for budgeting, timelines and grant submittals.   192 
Grava stated that it is important to have a five-year plan for projects because grant applications give more 193 
points and focus to cities that can show that they have planning components involved. He stated that 0-5 194 
years is a reasonable time frame to work within the five-year budget plan.  195 
 196 
Mayor Allens stated that the Council has seen the plan and it was reviewed at a recent work session. 197 
Council Member Parkinson wanted to clarify that Council is not approving the expenditures for projects, 198 
but simply the priority projects for when grant funding becomes available projects can begin. Grava stated 199 
that every project will be brought before Council for approval so that they can go through the process for 200 
finance approval and back to Council for funding approval begore the project begins. 201 

 202 
Motion by Council Member West 203 

Seconded by Council Member Thomas 204 
To approve the 0-5 year  205 

Parks Capital Plan as far as priorities are concerned 206 
Approved unanimously (5-0) 207 

 208 
                 209 

7.2 DISCUSSION: TRIAL PERIOD FOR FLOCK CAMERAS TO BE INSTALLED 210 
WITHIN WASHINGTON TERRACE CITY 211 

Hanson stated that there was a request during the Council Retreat for the purchase or lease of additional 212 
Flock cameras to support law enforcement operations within the city. He stated that there are two Flock 213 
cameras within the city which are paid for by the County. 214 
Hanson stated that he met with Lt. Endsley and discussed locations where additional cameras could be 215 
installed within the city.  Hanson stated that there would be a 60-day trial period to see what type of results 216 
could be accomplished with the additional cameras. 217 
Council Member West stated that there are budgetary constraints regarding law enforcement and stated 218 
that he feels that the leveraging technology that is available is a good idea to consider as a trial.  He stated 219 
that we need to make sure that the data is safe and meets the requirements that we have. He stated that the 220 
trial period provides the opportunity to determine if the technology provides the benefits that we expect. 221 
 222 
Council Member Zishan stated that everything has value and noted that the Council’s job is to see if there 223 
is a net value to citizens. He stated that he researched the product and found that it is not a crime 224 
preventative solution. He stated that it works amazingly well in cities that have a lot of car thefts. 225 
Council Member Zishan stated that the Flock Camera company is a 7.5 billion dollar surveillance 226 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

company that connects our cameras to 83,000 others nationwide.  He stated that when we sign the contract 227 
after the trial period, we will be handing our residents’ data to a private corporation with no real control for 228 
who sees it. Council Member Zishan stated that there are recorded abuses using this camera, including 229 
flock data used to track women seeking abortions in Texas, 3,000 immigration searches within one year, 230 
instances of officers using the data to track former partners, and millions of warrantless searches. Council 231 
Member Zishan stated that the company’s CEO admitted that they gave federal agents access to 232 
information without telling local governments. He stated that 30 cities have cancelled their contracts with 233 
Flock cameras. 234 
Council Member Zishan stated that research conducted by Cornell University of law found no evidence 235 
that it reduces any crime.  He stated that he is against the use of Flock cameras. 236 
 237 
Council Member Parkinson stated that she has received concerns from residents regarding the cameras and 238 
asked Lt. Endsley to address how the Flock cameras are a benefit to the community and how they might be 239 
a problem. 240 
 241 
Lt. Endsley stated that the cameras that we have are automatic license plate readers that capture vehicle 242 
data and comply with state law regulations as to what data is captured and how long the data can be 243 
accessed.  Lt. Endsley stated that the data can only be used and searched to aid in a criminal investigation, 244 
to locate missing or endangered people, located stolen vehicles and to locate wanted people with active 245 
arrest warrants.  246 
Lt. Endsley stated that there are audit systems within the flock system that can audit who is accessing the 247 
information and the reason for the search. He stated that a case number has to be used to see information. 248 
He stated that problems would be addressed if it was found during an audit that the case number that was 249 
used had nothing to do with the search, noting that if the results of the search are used in an inappropriate 250 
way, there could be criminal charges.  251 
Lt. Endsley stated that the Flock system only holds the data for around 30 days, noting that state law 252 
allows for a nine-month retainage period. 253 
Lt. Endsley stated that the system has had successes and highlighted several that he had compiled for a 254 
report for another city. He highlighted an event where the information was used to track a kidnapper, 255 
murder suspects, stolen vehicles,  and another event where a resident having a medical emergency was 256 
located.  257 
 258 
Lt. Endsley stated that there are controls as to who has search rights, noting that only supervisors and 259 
detectives can conduct searches.  260 
Lt. Endsley stated that misuse can happen in any profession with any equipment and the Sheriff’s Office 261 
tries to prevent that as much as possible and punishes criminal use in serious ways. 262 
Lt. Endsley stated that the tool is reactive and not proactive. He stated that it does not reduce crime but is 263 
used after the crime for investigations. 264 
 265 
Council Member Davidson asked how this reduces officer time. Lt. Endsley stated that it could reduce the 266 
time spent by officers conducting follow-up information. He stated that it reduces time for door to door 267 
canvassing if there is a camera in the area. 268 
Lt. Endsley stated that more cameras provide more abilities to help capture the information needed. 269 
 270 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

 271 
Council Member Zishan stated that his comments were not directed at the Weber County Sheriff’s Office. 272 
He stated that his issue is that the data captured is not stored locally and the company has full access to the 273 
data through their cloud server. He noted that the company has already broken trust and given access to the 274 
data to people who they should not have. 275 
 276 
Lt Endsley stated that the Flock system doesn’t have access to who the car and license plate is registered 277 
to. He stated that there are no expectations of privacy on public roads and open views applied to license 278 
plates regarding issues of reasonable searches, privacy, unreasonable search and seizure in places where 279 
there are reasonable expectations of privacy. 280 
Hanson asked if Ogden City shares their information. Lt. Endsley stated that Ogden has restricted the 281 
access that they give to other agencies through Memorandum of Understandings. 282 
 283 
Council Member Parkinson stated that the issue of privacy is something that we all want to protect. She 284 
stated that public places have the right to film people in public. She stated that many people are using ring 285 
cameras and home surveillance cameras to protect themselves and have shared their data to assist law 286 
enforcement. She stated that people using public streets should not expect privacy, as they are private 287 
anymore. 288 
 289 
Mayor Allen stated that he is not sure how he feels about the flock system after seeing news reports and 290 
abuse of the system due to bad actors. 291 
Council Member Davidson stated that there are checks and balances within state law and agencies  and 292 
that we need to weigh the benefits as to how they are used. She stated that there are guardrails and that the 293 
use of the cameras are very beneficial to law enforcement to do their job.  Council Member Davidson 294 
stated that she is a supporter of flock and noted that there are enough checks and balances within the 295 
department. 296 
Hanson stated that this item will be on the next agenda for motion as to whether to include Flock cameras 297 
as a budget item.  298 
Hanson stated that we would own the lease for the cameras and access is for the Sheriff Office. He stated 299 
that no city staff would have access to the system. Hanson stated that the city would have access as to 300 
whom we share the information with through a MOU. 301 
 302 

7.3 MOTION/RESOLUTION 26-02: AMENDMENT TO THE POLICY AND 303 
PROCEDURES MANUAL REGARDING URS SAVINGS PLAN AUTO-304 
ENROLLMENT 305 

Rodriguez stated that the city needs to submit an updated service agreement to the Utah Retirement 306 
System. As part of this agreement, the staff would like to take advantage of the URS Automatic 307 
Enrollment Plan option for newly hired employees.  This will allow the city to automatically withhold 2% 308 
of the employee’s paycheck and put it towards a 457 Savings Plan upon their hire date.  309 
Rodriguez stated that his type of enrollment has proven effective in helping employees maximize their 310 
retirement savings because they never see the 2% in their paycheck so they don’t have to adjust for pay 311 
reductions later if they choose to participate in a savings plan.  312 
 313 
 Rodriguez stated that the policy requires that the employee would be notified of this enrollment before 314 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

they come in to complete their new hire paperwork in order to give them time to review the information 315 
and research the plan and the URS options.  She stated that they will be able to opt out of this plan on their 316 
first day or anytime after. Rodriguez noted that all savings plans offered through URS are available to any 317 
employee at any time, stating that auto-enrollment helps simplify the process for them. Rodriguez stated 318 
that there are no fiscal impacts associated with this policy, as the city does not participate in matching 319 
contributions to employee savings plans. 320 
 321 

Motion by Council Member Thomas  322 
Seconded by Council Member Davidson 323 

To approve Resolution 26-02 324 
Amending the Policy and Procedures manual 325 

Relating to URS Savings Plans Auto-Enrollment 326 
Approved unanimously (5-0) 327 

Roll Call Vote 328 
 329 

8. COUNCIL COMMUNICATION WITH STAFF 330 
Council Member Davidson stated that she is grateful that the Rohmer Park project is underway. She 331 
thanked Jake Meibos for his work coordinating things and trying to save the rocks and organize safety in 332 
the area.  333 
 334 
Council Member Zishan confirmed that the city is providing temporary restrooms in parks that do not have 335 
permanent restrooms this summer. Hanson stated that the temporary restrooms are included in the budget. 336 
 337 
Council Member Parkinson stated that she has had numerous residents contact her about the trees at the 338 
hospital and appreciated the information shared tonight. She stated that she is concerned about the 339 
misinformation that is out there for the citizens, noting that she wants staff to look at ways to clarify the 340 
communication. She stated that she wants to with work the hospital on messaging so that the hospital is not 341 
put in the position of being the bad guy. She stated that she is looking forward to working with the hospital 342 
on upcoming plans. Council Member Parkinson stated that she was contacted by a resident who was 343 
concerned about flooding. She would like staff to follow through on the impact the removed trees are 344 
having on the community. 345 
 346 
Council Member Parkinson stated that she has been contacted by several residents excited about the 347 
construction on the property next to the library. She stated that she loves that people notice that things are 348 
happening within the city. She asked that information be shared in the next newsletter as to what is 349 
happening with the construction of the new building, noting that more information is always helpful. 350 
Council Member West agreed, stating that it would be nice to show what business and development is 351 
coming into the city.  352 
 353 
Council Member Thomas was thankful to have the information on the spring green waste clean up as he 354 
was contacted by residents. He stated that he would like the information on the Rohmer Park spring clean 355 
up on Justserve platform so that people outside of the community can have the information. 356 
 357 
9. ADMINISTRATION REPORTS       358 
 Hanson stated that our Code Enforcement Officer works throughout the city enforcing laws that help 359 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

protect residents’ safety and property. 360 
Hanson stated that the officer has spent two years working with the hospital to remove tall weeds, 361 
underbrush, branches, vegetation, dead fallen trees, overhanging trees, and debris from the area.  The 362 
officer has worked with the administration over the last two years to help mitigate fire hazards.  Hanson 363 
stated that the Code Enforcement Officer has detailed records with the hospital directing them to remove 364 
fire hazards. Hanson stated that he has never mandated the removal of trees.  Hanson stated that the intent 365 
was always to remove the hazards, and not the trees. Hanson stated that there has been encouragement to 366 
trim trees, but at no time was there a mandate to remove trees.  Hanson stated that one of the focuses was 367 
removing the undergrowth and creating a buffer on the west side of the property. He stated that this effort 368 
was to mitigate fire hazards, protecting the neighboring property and bringing the property into nuisance 369 
tree compliance. 370 
Hanson stated that it was described as hazard maintenance and mitigation.  371 
Hanson stated that there has never been a citation given.  He stated that the only removal was for dead 372 
trees that were on the ground.  Hanson stated that he has considered what had been said to hospital 373 
managers by the fire chief, code enforcement officer and himself and stated that they never told the  374 
hospital administration to remove all the trees.  Hanson stated that in July of 2025, there was the most 375 
significant brush fire that the city has ever had and it occurred on the south end of the hospital property. He 376 
stated that it resulted in multiple ladder trucks and agencies responding to the fire to help put it out. 377 
Hanson stated that the fire departments were concerned that another fire would impact residents’ homes. 378 
Hanson stated that the city continued to have conversations with the hospital administration on how they 379 
could mitigate and manage the fire risks. He stated that the city never required a clear cut or removal of the 380 
trees that are now gone.   381 
Hanson stated that the city did not require the clear cut of the trees.  Hanson stated that there are two years 382 
of records and they do not reflect the mandating of the clearing of the trees.   383 
Council Member Parkinson asked Hanson to clarify that the Council had not been made aware that this 384 
was going on. She stated that the Council was not made aware of what the hospital process was going to 385 
be. Hanson stated that the City was not made aware either.  Hanson stated that it is private property and the 386 
hospital can do what they want on their own property.  Hanson stated that there were no fines or citations 387 
threatened to the hospital.  Hanson stated that there was only encouragement for maintenance of the fire 388 
hazards.  Hanson stated that the city followed our process and the hospital choose to remove their trees. 389 
Mayor Allen stated that our Code Enforcement Officer did his job well and kept documentation on the 390 
property.  Mayor Allen noted that there have been residents who have complained about the fire hazards 391 
on the property.  Hanson stated that his heart goes out to those who this has impacted. 392 
Council Member West stated that it is private property and it was their choice to do what they did. He 393 
asked if staff knows what their plans are for the area.  Hanson stated that the city has not received any  394 
building plans for expansion of the property or plans as to what they plan to do with the area. 395 
 396 
Hanson reported that the RAMP Grant application prepared and submitted by Recreation Director Carlos 397 
Grava has received a unanimous recommendation from the County RAMP Commission for the Pickleball 398 
Phase 4 Project.  399 
 400 
10. UPCOMING EVENTS 401 

March 17th: Work Session (5:00p.m.) and Council Meeting (6:00 p.m.) 402 
March 26th: Planning Commission meeting 6:00 p.m.(tentative) 403 
April 4th: Easter Egg Hunt 10:00 a.m. 404 



 

 
CC Minutes 03-03-26 

April 7th: Work Session (5:00 p.m.) and Council Meeting (6:00 p.m.) 405 
April 11th: Golden West 5K Run-for-Schools event 8:30 a.m. 406 
April 20-24th: Spring Green Waste Curbside Pick-up 407 
April 1-30th : Spring Green Waste Drop-off (7:00 a.m.- 3:30 p.m. Sundays excluded) 408 

              April 21st: Work Session (5:00 p.m.) and Council Meeting (6:00 p.m.) – tentative  409 
              April 22-24th: Utah League of Cities and Towns Conference- St. George  410 

April 25th: Rohmer Spring Clean Up 8-11a.m. 411 
April 30th Planning Commission Meeting 6:00 p.m. (tentative) 412 
 413 

11. ADJOURN THE MEETING 414 
 415 

Motion by Council Member Parkinson 416 
Seconded by Council Member Thomas 417 

To adjourn the meeting 418 
Approved unanimously (5-0) 419 

Time: 7:23 p.m. 420 
 421 
__________________________________________    _______________________________ 422 
Date Approved                                                                City Recorder  423 


